Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine xxx (xxxx) xxx

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine



Management of coronary artery perforation

Ahmed Abdalwahab^{a,b}, Mohamed Farag^{a,c}, Emmanouil S. Brilakis^d, Alfredo R. Galassi^e, Mohaned Egred^{a,f,*}

^a Department of Cardiology, Freeman Hospital, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

^b Cardiovascular Medicine Department, Faculty of Medicine, Tanta University, Egypt

^c School of Life and Medical Sciences, University of Hertfordshire, Hertfordshire, UK

^d Minneapolis Heart Institute Foundation, Minneapolis, MN, USA

^e University of Palermo, Palermo, Sicily, Italy

^f Translational and Clinical Research Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 October 2020 Accepted 10 November 2020 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Percutaneous coronary intervention Coronary artery perforation Covered stents Coils Pericardial tamponade Calcification Anticoagulation

ABSTRACT

Coronary artery perforation (CAP) is a rare but potentially life-threatening complication of percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), however if recognized and managed promptly, its adverse consequences can be minimized. Risk factors for CAP include the use of advanced PCI technique (such as atherectomy and chronic total occlusion interventions) and treatment of severely calcified lesions. There are 3 major types of CAP depending on location: (a) large vessel perforation, (b) distal vessel perforation, and (c) collateral perforation. Large vessel perforation is usually treated with implantation of a covered stent, whereas distal and collateral ves-

sel perforations are usually treated with mipfantation of a covered stellt, whereas distal and constellar vessel perforations are usually treated with coil or fat embolization. In this article we provide a state-of-the-art overview of the contemporary management of CAP.

© 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Universal management for CAP
	2.1. Immediate blocking balloon
	2.2. General circulatory support
	2.3. Pericardiocentesis and autologous reinfusion
	2.4. Call for help (echocardiographer, surgeon and anesthetist)
	2.5. Management of large vessel CAP
3.	Specific management for distal vessel CAP
	3.1. Autologous blood clots or subcutaneous fat
	3.2. Microcoils
	3.3. Thrombin
	3.4. Other micro substances
4.	Specific management for septal or epicardial collateral perforation
5.	Anticoagulation reversal
6.	Conclusions
Refe	erences

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author at: Cardiology Department, Freeman Hospital, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, Tyne and Wear NE7 7DN, UK. *E-mail address:* m.egred@nhs.net (M. Egred).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carrev.2020.11.013 1553-8389/© 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. Coronary artery perforation (CAP) is a rare complication of percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) with an incidence of about 0.2–0.5% [1,2]. It is more common in complex PCI, such as chronic total occlusion

Please cite this article as: A. Abdalwahab, M. Farag, E.S. Brilakis, et al., Management of coronary artery perforation, Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carrev.2020.11.013

A. Abdalwahab, M. Farag, E.S. Brilakis et al.

(CTO) PCI (4%) [3], especially with retrograde approach (15%) [4], unprotected left main PCI (0.9%) [5], bypass graft PCI (0.32–0.68%) [6], and PCI in women and the elderly [7]. CAP is associated with high risk in-hospital and late major adverse cardiac events, as it can lead to cardiac tamponade, hemodynamic compromise and death [7].

CAP is best classified according to its location into 3 categories: large vessel, distal vessel, or septal or epicardial collateral perforation. Each type has different risk factors and treatment [8]. Common causes of large vessel perforation include use of oversized balloons and stents, use of high inflation pressures, particularly in tight, highly calcified lesions that are not properly remodeled by rotational atherectomy upfront. Furthermore, the aggressive plaque modification devices, such as cutting balloons, excimer laser, rotational, or orbital atherectomy devices might increase the risk. In addition, rupture of inflated balloon or "grenadoplasty" may cause coronary perforation [9,10]. Despite the fact that coronary intravascular lithotripsy shows a great success in remodeling calcified lesions, it might also increase the risk of large vessel CAP.

Distal vessel perforation is usually caused by distal wire migration, especially when polymer-jacketed guide wires are used. In one registry approximately 90% of distal wire induced CAP was due to the polymer-jacketed wire family [11,12].

Epicardial vessel collaterals perforation is not uncommon in retrograde approach for CTO PCI. Indeed, coronary perforation exists in 15% of total retrograde cases in one study [4].

CAP can also be classified according to its severity using the Ellis classification [13]; type I, extra luminal carter without significant extravasation and without linear staining; type II, pericardial or myocardial extravasation with less than 1 mm hole; and type III, hole larger than 1 mm with frank extravasation or bleeding into another cardiovascular cavity. Type III CAP is highly associated with cardiac tamponade, hemodynamic collapse and death. Occasionally, even low-risk type I or II CAP can have a poor clinical outcome [13].

Interventional cardiologists should be able to recognize CAP and become familiar with available general and specific treatment options, as if recognized quickly and managed adequately, its adverse impact can be minimized. In general, proximal large vessel CAPs usually require covered stents and distal or collateral vessel CAPs can be safely treated with embolization therapy. In this article, we review available treatment strategies and provide a simplified universal and type-specific approach to manage CAP.

2. Universal management for CAP

2.1. Immediate blocking balloon

The first step after diagnosis of CAP is to stop extravasation with inflation of a balloon (1:1 balloon:vessel size) proximal to or at the site of perforation for about 5–10 min at a low pressure (maximum 8 atm). The maximum tolerated time to occlude a coronary artery without causing significant myocardial damage is about 20 min and therefore repeated 5–10 min inflations can be done until either successful sealing of the perforation or evidence of significant ischaemia. If this intermittent occlusion is not efficient, persistent partial occlusion with allowed TIMI II flow may be attempted for a longer period, although a definite treatment, such as coiling, covered stents, should be the aim [14]. A passive auto-perfusion balloon may also be useful to maintain blood flow to the distal vessel with sealing of the perforation site, although these have not been available commercially for a while [15].

2.2. General circulatory support

In case of compromised hemodynamic parameters suggestive of cardiac tamponade physiology (tachycardia, pulsus paradoxus, low cardiac output and right ventricular failure), intravenous fluids, vasopressor and circulatory support devices are recommended (examples are

Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine xxx (xxxx) xxx

intra-aortic balloon bump, impella or even extracorporeal membrane oxygenation [ECMO]), as adequate blood pressure support is paramount [9]. In case of continued hypotension, angiography of the affected coronary segment can help determine whether blood extravasation has stopped. A central venous access via the femoral vein can be useful, especially in large perforations.

2.3. Pericardiocentesis and autologous reinfusion

CAP can lead to cardiac tamponade. In fact and importantly, as small as 100 ml of blood accumulating in pericardium may cause tamponade if occurs rapidly. Urgent pericardiocenesis is usually attempted using anatomical landmarks under fluoroscopic or echocardiographic guidance. Reinfusion of the aspirated pericardial blood into a central vein may improve the outcome of CAP and decrease the need for blood transfusion. The reinfusion can be performed through a closed circuit; the pig tail catheter, which is positioned into the pericardial sac to be connected to a central venous access, then the drainage and reinfusion, can be done manually by 20 ml lock syringe in order to re-inject the whole aspirated blood back to the systemic circulation. Following successful sealing, it is recommended that the catheter is left in place for 24 h to be taken out if <50 ml accumulates in less than 12 h [16]. It is very important to regularly check the activated clotting time (ACT) and keep it above 300 s while reinfusing the aspirated pericardial fluid to prevent clotting.

2.4. Call for help (echocardiographer, surgeon and anesthetist)

Call for help early is of paramount importance, especially in case of type III CAP. Urgent echocardiogram is crucial to rule in/out cardiac tamponade and/or guide pericardiocentesis. If bleeding into a cardio-vascular cavity is suspected, echocardiographic contrast imaging, CT scan or cardiac MRI (at a later stage) may be needed to help identify the cavity. Follow up echocardiogram in 3–8 h post management is also crucial, particularly in cases of distal vessel CAP, as delayed pericardial effusion and tamponade may ensue a few hours afterwards [17]. A cardiac surgeon and an anesthetist may need to be involved if pericardiocenesis is not feasible or effective. Emergency surgical repair in these settings carries high mortality.

2.5. Management of large vessel CAP

The previous mentioned universal measures should be applied for all types of CAP. If these measures fail to stop bleeding into the pericardium, additional treatment strategies should be used (Fig. 1).

In case of large vessel CAP, prolonged balloon inflations and/or conventional stenting may be enough to seal the perforation, especially in type I or II CAP, although stenting may sometimes worsen the perforation. Deployment of a covered stent at the site of perforation can provide definitive treatment of large vessel perforations, especially in vessels with a diameter > 2.5 mm without sizable side branches [17]. Placement of a covered stent should ideally be performed while minimizing the balloon deflation time.

Reducing the time of blocking balloon deflation is crucial in order to reduce bleeding into the pericardium and potential development of tamponade. If large guides (8 French) are used, delivery of the covered stent can be performed through the same guide catheter along with the blocking balloon with the least time of balloon deflation (block and deliver technique) [18]. Alternatively, the "ping pong", also called "dual guide catheter" or "dueling guide catheter" technique can be used. In this technique, a second guide catheter is inserted via a second vascular access. The first catheter is retracted slightly to enable the engagement of the second catheter while the balloon is still inflated. Through the second catheter, a second coronary guidewire is advanced to the blocking balloon, followed by a brief deflation of the blocking balloon to allow the second guidewire to pass to the distal segment of the perforated vessel. A covered stent is then advanced over the second wire

A. Abdalwahab, M. Farag, E.S. Brilakis et al.

Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine xxx (xxxx) xxx



Fig. 1. Universal and type-specific coronary artery perforation management algorithm.

and when it reaches the blocking balloon, the balloon is deflated and withdrawn to allow for covered stent delivery and deployment [19].

Using covered stents in large bifurcation vessels, such as the left main, can be challenging because the covered stent will probably occlude the side branch potentially causing significant myocardial ischaemia. However, it has been reported that the side branch can be successfully re-opened by piercing the polytetrafluroethylene layer with a high tip load wire (Cofianza Pro 12 ASAHI Intecc, Santa Clara, CA, USA) through a dual lumen micro catheter [20]. Jailed balloon technique may also be used to secure the side branch after deployment of a covered stent in the main vessel [21]. In addition, and if the coronary anatomy allows, kissing stents technique with a covered stent and conventional drug eluting stent can be adopted as a method to preserve the flow to the side branch [22].

The main objective of a covered stent is to seal the perforation with a layer impermeable to blood. Although survival after CAP has improved and the need for emergent surgical intervention has decreased since the introduction of covered stents, there remain a few important intrinsic limitations. The long-term outcome of these stents is doubtful mainly due to concerns on increased thrombogenicity [23]. Also, covered stents are bulky; hence, delivery and deployment can be difficult and may fail in tortuous or calcified vessels. In addition, theses stents frequently require post-dilatation to further seal the perforation and/ or optimize the treated segment and their design may render this step challenging.

Until 2019, the Graftmaster covered stent (Abbott Vascular, Santa Clara, CA) was the only commercially available covered stent. It consists of a polytetrafluroethylene layer in between two stainless steel stents; therefore, it can be particularly challenging to deliver or even expand.

In a study conducted on 57 CAP patients treated with Graftmaster covered stents, 38% had major adverse cardiac events, 26% had repeat revascularization procedures, and 3.5% had stent thrombosis for up to 3 years after the index procedure [24]. Another study reported the

incidence of stent thrombosis to be as high as a quarter of all patients with Graftmaster covered stents [25].

The PK Papyrus covered stent (Biotronik, Lake Oswego, OR) is a newly developed covered stent consists of a single layer of polytetrafluroethylene covering a cobalt chromium stent and therefore is easier to deliver with better crossing profile than the Graftmaster stent. In a study comparing PK Papyrus and Graftmaster stents in CAP patients, the PK Papyrus stent was associated with shorter delivery time (8 vs. 15 min) along with significant reduction in pericardial effusion and cardiac arrest (41% vs. 72% and 5% vs. 26%, respectively) [26].

The BeGraft stent (Bentley InnoMed GmbH, Hechingen, Germany) is another newly developed covered stent consists of a single layer of polytetrafluroethylene covering a cobalt chromium stent yet with further improvements in delivery dynamics. However, in a series of CAP patients treated with this stent, the incidence of death, periprocedural myocardial infarction and target vessel revascularization was remarkable at 8.2%, 31.1%, and 18%, respectively, but with no stent thrombosis reported [27].

3. Specific management for distal vessel CAP

In case of distal vessel CAP, deployment of a covered stent in the main vessel at the ostium of the perforated branch to occlude it from the origin, or material embolization to distal vessel can be attempted [18,28].

The embolization technique involves selection of the embolization material and the method of delivery. The commonly used methods to deliver the material are deeply engaged guide catheters, thrombus aspiration catheters, over the wire balloons or microcatheters. The latter two are frequently used for distal and more precise placement.

Several materials can be used for distal embolization, such as autologous blood clots or subcutaneous fat, micro-coils, thrombin containing substances, microspheres, collagen, gelatin sponge, polyvinyl alcohol

A. Abdalwahab, M. Farag, E.S. Brilakis et al.

Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine xxx (xxxx) xxx

particles, autologous skin, balloon fragments (personal experience), or the cut tip of angioplasty wires (personal experience) [8,29,30].

Additionally, any sterile stable micro-foreign body particles may be used. To obtain radiopacity, the embolic particles should either be dipped into or delivered using contrast media. The mechanism by which the embolic material stops the bleeding is by formation of a clot that eventually occludes the vessel. Subsequently, the embolic material causes a foreign body granuloma formation different in nature from the embolized material [31].

Some new described techniques have been developed to minimize the time of balloon deflation during material embolization. The most commonly used is to deflate the blocking balloon for few seconds to allow passing a micro-catheter over a second guide wire then the balloon is re-inflated to jail the micro-catheter (block and deliver technique). Consequently, the embolization of any occluding materials can be done with the balloon inflated at the same time. However, this technique is only feasible in case of using a large guide catheter, such as 7 or 8 French [32,33].

3.1. Autologous blood clots or subcutaneous fat

Using blood clots or subcutaneous fat particles has the advantage of biocompatibility in every patient and is universally available. The successful sealing of CAPs with autologous blood clots soaked in saline and contrast media has been described [34,35]. Injection of autologous subcutaneous fat particles through a microcatheter or equivalent can successfully occlude distal perforations. The fat is usually harvested from around the access sheath (next to the puncture site) or via a small incision in the upper thigh or anterior abdominal wall, then it is divided with scalpel into very small segments and pushed by a wire in a microcatheter or with saline and contrast media [36,37].

3.2. Microcoils

Micro-coils are permanent metallic devices with a wired structure of synthetic wool or Dacron fibers and thrombogenic properties. Microcoils need practice and expertise in their use, but not difficult to perform and are usually delivered through microcatheters. There are 0.014 and 0.018 inch coils. The 0.014 inch coils are preferred as they can be delivered through any microcatheter. The 0.018 inch coils can be delivered through a Finecross or through a larger microcatheter such as Progreat or Renegade. Moreover, coils can be pushable or detachable. Detachable coils are preferable as optimal positioning can be confirmed prior to releasing them. Some types of the coils, such as the Hilal and Tornado coils (Cook Medical, Bloomington, IN, USA) can be advanced in a wide lumen microcatheter, such as the 2.6 French Stride micro-catheters. Ideally, the coil size should be slightly larger than the target vessel size to ensure complete vessel adherence. The coil is introduced in the microcatheter then the guide wire is advanced to push the coil to the distal vessel. In 66 cases of distal wire and collateral perforations, Tornado coils were successfully used by pushing a 0.014 inch guide wire through a Finecross microcatheter [38]. Other Ultra Coils (such as Stryker, MI, USA) can be delivered through any 0.014 inch microcatheters however released by an electrolytic current application [37].

3.3. Thrombin

Thrombin is the key mediator of dense fibrin thrombi formation. Embolization of solutions or commercial glue containing thrombin, administered through microcatheters or over the wire balloons after mixing with saline and contrast media, have been shown to successfully seal distal CAPs [39,40].

3.4. Other micro substances

Micro substances embolization is a growing area for innovative techniques and research. Microspheres are spherical, hydrophilic, nonabsorbable, varying size (from 1 to 1500 μ m) particles that are delivered through a microcatheter and cause sealing of distal perforations in a similar fashion to coils. The evidence supporting the safety and efficacy of microspheres in the management of CAP is still scarce [41].

A new innovative technique was described to seal distal wire CAPs via embolization of angioplasty balloon fragment (balloon cut at middle part). This can be done by pushing the balloon fragment by another intact monorail balloon over the same wire distally to the perforated artery. Then the guide wire is pulled back slightly to allow embolization of the balloon fragment making it freely released into the distal perforated site. After that, the driving balloon is safely pulled back over the wire. This is considered a readily available, cost effective method of distal wire CAP management (personal experience) [42].

Embolization of collagen, which is available commercially in femoral occlusion angioseal devices could be another cheap option of distal embolization material. This can be done by extracting the collagen from an angioseal device and cutting it into small particles using a scalpel. The collagen material is then put into the hub of a deeply engaged guide catheter and flushed rapidly with 10 ml of saline [43]. Gelatin sponge can also be used to stop leakage from distal vessel perforations. It can be prepared by cutting the sponge into small particles and mixing it with saline and contrast media. After that, it can be injected manually with a syringe through a deeply engaged guide catheter [44]. Injection of polyvinyl alcohol particles through the lumen of an inflated over the wire balloon or via a microcatheter can also be used to occlude distal vessel CAPs [45]. Embolization of autologous skin particles can also be used to seal the distal CAPs. This may be done by advancement of the skin part to the distal artery over the guidewire and then released with the help of balloon [46].

4. Specific management for septal or epicardial collateral perforation

Septal or epicardial collateral perforations are not uncommon during CTO interventions and are usually managed conservatively. Management of significant septal or pericardial collateral bleeding can be challenging because of the dual source of blood supply, and therefore, may require embolization simultaneously from both antegrade and retrograde feeding vessels in order to block both ends of the collateral in a fashion similar to distal vessel management approach [47,48].

Extra caution should be exercised for post coronary artery bypass grafting surgery patients, as small bleeding not detected by echocardiography may compress various cardiac chambers leading to dry tamponade (intramyocardial, myocardial wall haematomas) or pocket tamponade (compressing haematomas) with significant haemodynamic compromise, which may require CT guided drainage or surgical intervention [49,50].

5. Anticoagulation reversal

This is a crucial and most important aspect on managing CAP. Anticoagulation reversal may be considered in the management of CAP however if done prematurely may precipitate life-threatening thrombotic complications and/or clotting of the pericardial fluid potentially making it difficult to drain.

It is recommended to be done as a last resort and only if other CAP treatment options are exhausted with persistent extravasation. After confirming CAP and undertaking initial management, measuring ACT as a baseline reference may be useful. For heparin anticoagulation, the safe target of ACT of less than 150 s can be reached by intravenous administration of 1 mg of protamine sulphate for each 100 unit of heparin given (maximum 50 units of protamine). On some occasions, a half dose

A. Abdalwahab, M. Farag, E.S. Brilakis et al.

protamine sulphate may be all is needed to stop any persistent extravasation if other measures fail. In the case of bivalirudin, fresh frozen plasma is usually required to reverse its action [29]. Other intravenous antiplatelet therapy such as Cangrelor needs to be discontinued. Anticoagulation reversal is only recommended after removal of all intracoronary equipment, including wire and balloons, in order to avoid acute intracoronary thrombosis [8,37].

6. Conclusions

CAP is an infrequent complication but continues to be associated with high morbidity and mortality in patients undergoing PCI. It is critical for interventional cardiologists to take precautions to avoid this complication and more importantly to recognize it early if occurs and to be familiar with the universal and specific management algorithms. Invasive coronary imaging may guide a safe PCI strategy in terms of device selection including rotational atherectomy and/or balloon selection, and this may theoretically reduce the incidence of CAP. Covered stents can help seal large vessel CAP albeit with concerns on late thrombogenicity that might be overcome with prolonged dual antiplatelet therapy. In distal vessel and collateral vessel CAP, embolization of autologous material or coils often achieve hemostasis. The patient's baseline function, coronary anatomy, CAP location, hemodynamic stability and the amount of myocardium at risk often determine the treatment strategy and overall prognosis.

Declaration of competing interest

All authors of the manuscript "Management of coronary artery perforation" have no conflict of interest to declare.

References

- Shimony A, Joseph L, Mottillo S, Eisenberg MJ. Coronary artery perforation during percutaneous coronary intervention: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Cardiol [Internet]. 2011;27(6):843–50.
- [2] Harnek J, James S, Lagerqvist B. Coronary artery perforation and tamponade incidence, risk factors, predictors and outcomes from 12 years' data of the SCAAR Registry. Circ J [Internet]. 2019 Dec 25;84(1):43–53.
- [3] Danek BA, Karatasakis A, Tajti P, Sandoval Y, Karmpaliotis D, Alaswad K, et al. Incidence, treatment, and outcomes of coronary perforation during chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention. Am J Cardiol. 2017 Oct 15;120(8): 1285–92.
- [4] Wu K, Huang Z, Zhong Z, Liao H, Zhou Y, Luo B, et al. Predictors, treatment, and longterm outcomes of coronary perforation during retrograde percutaneous coronary intervention via epicardial collaterals for recanalization of chronic coronary total occlusion. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2019 Feb 15;93(S1):800–9.
- [5] Hussain HI, Protty MB, Gallagher S, Al-Raisi S, Aldalati O, Farooq V, et al. The impact of coronary perforation in percutaneous interventions involving the left main stem coronary artery in the United Kingdom 2007–2014: insights from the British Cardiovascular Intervention Society database. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2020 Apr 25:1–7 (April).
- [6] Kinnaird T, Anderson R, Ossei-Gerning N, Cockburn J, Sirker A, Ludman P, et al. Coronary perforation complicating percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with a history of coronary artery bypass surgery. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2017 Sep;10(9): 1–11.
- [7] Kinnaird T, Kwok CS, Kontopantelis E, Ossei-Gerning N, Ludman P, DeBelder M, et al. Incidence, determinants, and outcomes of coronary perforation during percutaneous coronary intervention in the United Kingdom between 2006 and 2013. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2016 Aug;9(8).
- [8] Xenogiannis I, Brilakis ES. Advances in the treatment of coronary perforations. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2019 Apr 5;93(5):921–2.
- [9] Witzke CF, Martin-Herrero F, Clarke SC, Pomerantzev E, Palacios IF. The changing pattern of coronary perforation during percutaneous coronary intervention in the new device era. J Invasive Cardiol. 2004 Jun;16(6):297–301.
- [10] Jurado-Román A, Galeote G, Jiménez-Valero S, Ofelia Rosillo S, Moreno R, López-Sendón JL. Left main coronary artery perforation after rotational atherectomy. REC Interv Cardiol (English Ed). 2020 Mar 24;16(6).
- [11] Kiernan TJ, Yan BP, Ruggiero N, Eisenberg JD, Bernal J, Cubeddu RJ, et al. Coronary artery perforations in the contemporary interventional era. J Interv Cardiol. 2009 Aug; 22(4):350–3.
- [12] Teis-Soley A, Fernández-Nofrerías E, Rodríguez-Leor O, Tizón H, Salvatella N, Valle V, et al. Coronary artery perforation by intracoronary guidewires: risk factors and clinical outcomes. Rev Española Cardiol (English Ed). 2010 Jan;63(6):730–4.

Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine xxx (xxxx) xxx

- [13] Ellis SG, Ajluni S, Arnold AZ, Popma JJ, Bittl JA, Eigler NL, et al. Increased coronary perforation in the new device era. Incidence, classification, management, and outcome. Circulation. 1994 Dec;90(6):2725–30.
- [14] Wang X, Ge J. Balloon occlusion types in the treatment of coronary perforation during percutaneous coronary intervention. Cardiol Res Pract. 2014:1–6.
- [15] Rogers JH. Lasala JM. Journal of Invasive Cardiology: Coronary artery dissection and perforation complicating percutaneous coronary intervention; 2004.
- [16] Fiocca L, Cereda AF, Bernelli C, Canova PA, Serino F, Niglio T, et al. Autologous blood reinfusion during iatrogenic acute hemorrhagic cardiac tamponade: safety and feasibility in a cohort of 30 patients. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2019;17:E56–62.
- [17] Lemmert ME, van Bommel RJ, Diletti R, Wilschut JM, de Jaegere PP, Zijlstra F, et al. Clinical characteristics and management of coronary artery perforations: a singlecenter 11-year experience and practical overview. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6(9).
- [18] Sandoval Y, Lobo AS, Brilakis ES. Covered stent implantation through a single 8-French guide catheter for the management of a distal coronary perforation. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2017;90(4).
- [19] Röther J, Tröbs M, Ludwig J, Achenbach S, Schlundt C. Treatment and outcome of coronary artery perforations using a dual guiding catheter technique. Int J Cardiol. 2015;201:479–83.
- [20] Werner GS, Ahmed WH. Cardiovascular revascularization medicine fenestration of a Papyrus PK covered stent to recover the occluded left main bifurcation after sealing a left main perforation during a CTO procedure. Cardiovasc Revasc Med. 2017:10–3.
- [21] Takagi K, Furui K, Morishima I, Hideyuki T. Usefulness of the jailed-balloon technique in percutaneous intervention for severe coronary perforation involving left main bifurcation. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2017:e1–3.
- [22] Moriyama N, Tanaka Y, Saito S. Case report bailout polytetrafluoroethylene-covered stent implantation for left main bifurcation perforation using the kissing stent technique, 1027; 2017; 1022–7.
- [23] Lansky AJ, Yang Y ming, Khan Y, Costa RA, Pietras C, Tsuchiya Y, et al. Treatment of coronary artery perforations complicating percutaneous coronary intervention with a polytetrafluoroethylene-covered stent graft. Am J Cardiol. 2006;98(3):370–4.
- [24] Kawamoto H, Tanaka K, Ruparelia N, Takagi K, Yabushita H, Watanabe Y, et al. Shortterm and long-term outcomes after polytetrafluoroethylene-covered stent implantation for the treatment of coronary perforation. Am J Cardiol. 2015;116(12): 1822–6.
- [25] Guttmann O, Jones D, Gulati A, Kotecha T, Fayed H, Patel D, et al. Prevalence and outcomes of coronary artery perforation during percutaneous coronary intervention. EuroIntervention. 2017 Aug;13(5):e595–601.
- [26] Hernández-Enríquez M, Lairez O, Campelo-Parada F, Lhermusier T, Bouisset F, Roncalli J, et al. Outcomes after use of covered stents to treat coronary artery perforations. Comparison of old and new-generation covered stents. J Interv Cardiol. 2018;31(5):617–23.
- [27] Kufner S, Schacher N, Ferenc M, Schlundt C, Hoppmann P, Abdel-Wahab M, et al. Outcome after new generation single-layer polytetrafluoroethylene-covered stent implantation for the treatment of coronary artery perforation. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2019;93(5):912–20.
- [28] Yeo KK, Rogers JH, Laird JR. Use of stent grafts and coils in vessel rupture and perforation. | Interv Cardiol. 2008;21(1).
- [29] Giannini F, Candilio L, Mitomo S, Ruparelia N, Chieffo A, Baldetti L, et al. A practical approach to the management of complications during percutaneous coronary intervention. Cardiovascular Interventions: JACC; 2018.
- [30] Karatasakis A, Akhtar YN, Brilakis ES. Distal coronary perforation in patients with prior coronary artery bypass graft surgery: the importance of early treatment. Cardiovasc Revasc Med. 2016;17(6):412–7.
- [31] Kawano H, Arakawa S, Satoh O, Matsumoto Y, Hayano M, Miyabara S. Foreign body granulomatous change from absorbable gelatin sponge and microcoil embolization after a guidewire-induced perforation in the distal coronary artery. Intern Med. 2010;49(17):1871–4.
- [32] Garbo R, Oreglia JA, Gasparini GL. Case report the balloon-microcatheter technique for treatment of coronary artery perforations. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2016: 1–9 (June).
- [33] Tarar MNJ, Christakopoulos GE, Brilakis ES. Successful management of a distal vessel perforation through a single 8-French guide catheter: combining balloon inflation for bleeding control with coil embolization. 2015;416(March):412–6.
- [34] Cordero H, Gupta N, Underwood PL, Gogte ST, Heuser RR. Intracoronary autologous blood to seal a coronary perforation. Herz. 2001 Mar;26(2):157–60.
- [35] Tanaka S, Nishigaki K, Ojio S, Yasuda S, Okubo M, Yamaki T, et al. Transcatheter embolization by autologous blood clot is useful management for small side branch perforation due to percutaneous coronary intervention guide wire. J Cardiol. 2008 Dec; 52(3):285–9.
- [36] George S, Cotton J, Wrigley B. Guidewire-induced coronary perforation successfully treated with subcutaneous fat embolisation: a simple technique available to all. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2015;86(7):1186–8.
- [37] May A, Bhagwandeen R, Collins N. Contemporary management of coronary artery perforation. Heart Lung Circ. 2019;28(10):e121–5.
- [38] Qin Q, Chang S, Xu R, Fu M, Chen L, Ge L, et al. Short and long-term outcomes of coronary perforation managed by coil embolization: a single-center experience. Int J Cardiol [Internet]. 2020 Jan 1;298:18–21.
- [39] Störger H, Ruef J. Closure of guide wire-induced coronary artery perforation with a two-component fibrin glue. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2007 Aug 1;70(2):237–40.
- [40] Goel PK. Delayed and repeated cardiac tamponade following microleak in RCA successfully treated with intra arterial sterile glue injection. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2009;73(6).
- [41] To ACY, El-Jack SS, Webster MWI, Stewart JT. Coronary artery perforation successfully treated with tris-acryl gelatin microsphere embolisation. Heart Lung Circ. 2008;17(5):423–6.

A. Abdalwahab, M. Farag, E.S. Brilakis et al.

[42] Solomonica A, Kerner A, Feld Y, Yalonetsky S. Novel technique for the treatment of coronary artery perforation. Can J Cardiol [Internet]. 2020 Aug;36(8):1326.e1–3.

[43] Aleong G, Jimenez-Quevedo P, Alfonso F. Collagen embolization for the successful treatment of a distal coronary artery perforation. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2009 Feb 15;73(3):332–5.

- [44] Kałmucki P, Kuzemczak M, Siminiak T, Baszko A. Emergency treatment of iatrogenic coronary perforation by transcatheter embolization with gelatin sponge particles description of technique. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2019 Aug 19;94(2):223–6.
- [45] Cantón T, Pajín F, Lanciego C, Moreu J. An alternative treatment for latrogenic coronary perforation. Rev Española Cardiol (English Ed). 2009 Mar;62(3):328–9.
- [46] Guo R, Yang L. The successful use of autologous skin in management of guidewire-induced distal coronary perforation. Clin Case Reports. 2017;5(6):1018–21.
 [47] Gasparini GL, Merella P, Mazzarotto P, Gagnor A, Garbo R, Oreglia JA. Retrograde
- [47] Gasparini GL, Merella P, Mazzarotto P, Gagnor A, Garbo R, Oreglia JA. Retrograde approach-related epicardial collateral channel perforation successfully treated

Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine xxx (xxxx) xxx

with simultaneous bilateral coils embolization: a case illustration and review. Cardiovasc Revasc Med. 2018;19(7):879–86.

- [48] Boukhris M, Tomasello SD, Azzarelli S, Elhadj ZI, Marzà F, Galassi AR. Coronary perforation with tamponade successfully managed by retrograde and antegrade coil embolization. J Saudi Heart Assoc. 2015;27(3):216–21.
- [49] Frangieh AH, Klainguti M, Lüscher TF, Galassi AR, Gaemperli O. Left-sided haemothorax after iatrogenic coronary perforation in a patient with prior bypass surgery. Eur Heart J. 2015 Jan 7;36(2):128.
- [50] Doshi D, Hatem R, Masoumi A, Karmapaliotis D. A case report of right ventricular compression from a septal haematoma during retrograde coronary intervention to a chronic total occlusion. Eur Heart J - Case Reports. 2019;3(3).